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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

August 22, 1984

Kevin T. Baine, Esquire
David E. Kendall, Esquire
Williams and Connelly

Bill Building

839 Seventeenth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006

RE: MUR 1724
The Washington Post Company

Dear Mr. Baine and Mr. Kendall:

On June 13, 1984, the Commission notified your client of a
complaint alleging a violation of the Federal Election Calpaign
Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on August 17, 1984, detetnined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by you, there is no reason to believe that a violation of
any statute within its jurisdiction has been committed.
Accordingly, the Commission has closed its file in this matter.
This matter will become a part of the public record within 30
days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele

Associate Gengtal Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Kevin T. Baine, Bsquire
David B. Kendall, Esquire
Williams and Connelly -

Hill Building

839 Seventeenth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006

RE: MUR 1724
The Washington Post Company

Dear Mr. Baine and Mr. Kendall:

On June 13, 1984, the Commission notified your client of a
complaint alleging a violation of the Federal Election Calpuign
Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on ¢ 1984, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by you, there is no reason to believe that a violation of
any statute within its jurisdiction has been committed.
Accordingly, the Commission has closed its file in this matter.
This matter will become a part of the public record within 30
days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

BY: Kenneth A. Gross
Assocjiate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINCTON, D.C. 20463

August 22, 1984

John T. Dolan, Chairman

National Conservative Political
Action Committee

1001 Prince Street

Alexandria, Virginia 22314

RE: MUR 1724
Dear Mr. Dolan:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
contained in your complaint dated June S5, 1984, against unknown
members and/or employees of the Federal Election Commission and
The Washington Post Company, and has determined that on the basis
of the information in the complaint, and information provided by
the Respondent, there is no reason to believe that a violation of
the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, has been
committed. Accordingly, the Commission has closed the file in
this matter.

The Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to
seek judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this
action. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (8).

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth at 2 U.S.C.
§ 4379(a) (1) and 11 C.F.R. § 11ll.4.
Sincerely,

Steele

Charles N.

e
Associate Gepéral Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
wnsmncm. D.C. 20463

John T. Dolan, Chairman :

National Conservative Political
Action Committee

1001 Prince Street

Alexandria, Virginia 22314

RE: MUR 1724
Dear Mr. Dolan:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
contained in your complaint dated June 5, 1984, against unknown
members and/or employees of the Federal Election Commission and
The Washington Post Company, and has determined that on the basis
of the information in the complaint, and information provided by
the Respondent, there is no reason to believe that a violation of
the PFederal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, has been
committed. Accordingly, the Commission has closed the file in
this matter.

The Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to
seek judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this
action. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8).

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth at 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(l) and 11 C.F.R. § 11l1.4. .
Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

BY: Kenneth A. Gross
: Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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BEFORE THE PEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of s :
MUR 1724
Unknown Members and/or Employees

of the Pederal Election Commission
The Washington Post Company

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on August 17,
1984, the Commission decided by a vote of 5-0 to take

the following actions in MUR 1724:

2

1. Find no reason to believe that the
Washington Post Company has violated
2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12).

9

Find no reason to believe that
unknown members and/or employees

of the Federal Election Commission
have violated 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12).

)
N

3. Decline to refer this matter to the
Department of Justice.

4. Close the file in this matter.
S. Approve the letters attached to the

First General Counsel's Report dated
August 15, 1984.

8404047

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, McDonald and
‘McGarry voted affirmatively in this matter; Commissioner

Reiche did not cast a ‘vote.
Attest:

L-F0-8

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 ¥
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Office of the Commission Secretary

Office of General CounseBges
August 15, 1984

SUBJECT: MUR 1724 - lst GC Rpt

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION
48 Hour Tally Vote [x] Compliance [x]
Sensitive [x]
Non-Sensitive [ ) Audit Matters [ ]
24 Hour No Objection [ ] Litigation [ ]
Sensitive [ ]
Non-Sensitive [ ] Closed MUR Letters [ ]
Information [ 1] Status Sheets [ ]
Sensitive [ ]
Non-Sensitive [ ] Advisory Opinions []

- Other (see distribution
Other [ ] below)

e
R
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FEDERAL BLBCTIOI CDIHISBIGI
1325 K Street, N.W.
washington, D.C. 20463

FIRST GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT ” M!R 15 |

DATE AND TIME OF TRANSMITTAL BY
OGC TO THE COMMISSION /10 am.

COMPLAINANT'S NAME: National Conservative Political
Action Committee

RESPONDENTS' NAMES: Unknown Members and/or Employees of
the Federal Election Commission
The Washington Post Company
RELEVANT STATUTES
AND REGULATIONS: 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12)
11 C.F.R. § 111.21
SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS
In its complaint, the National Conservative Political Action
Committee ("NCPAC") cites an article entitled "Election Law
Violations Admitted in '82 Race" which appeared in The Washington
Post on January 20, 1984, and which discussed the conciliation
agreement signed in MUR 1424 by the Caputo for Senate Committee
on November 14, 1983, and approved by the Commission on
December 2, 1983. NCPAC notes that the article stated that the
agreement had not been made public. It is alleged that "a copy
of the conciliation agreement was provided to The Washington Post
by a member or an employee of the Federal Election Commission,

placing the Post and its source at the Commission in violation of

2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12)." NCPAC requests that the Commission
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disqualify itself and all staff members from tnvottiqatlny{thd§‘>__‘
facts in this complaint, refer the complaint to the Department of
Justice for an FBI investigation, and request that the DOJ rifit
*findings . . . to the appropriate U.S. Attorney for action.®

F YSIS

A. The Washington Post Company
2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12) provides that "any . . .

investigation made under this section shall not be made public
by the Commission or by any person without the written consent
of . . . the person with respect to whom such investigation is
made.” The complainant argues that The Washington Post Company
is a "person™ for purposes of this provision and that it violated
this provision "by making public the results of MUR 1424 without
the written consent of either National Conservative Political
Action Committee or Caputo for Senate Committee."

In their response to the complaint (Attachment 1), counsel
for The Washington Post Company argue that 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(4) (B) (ii) and 11 C.F.R. § 111.20(b) require the public
disclosure of final conciliation agreements forthwith, and that
even if conciliation agreements are subject to the
confidentiality provisions of 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12), these
provisions do not apply to the press. In support of their second
argument, counsel cite "a fundamental rule of statutory
construction that statutes are to be construed to avoid
constitutional questions" (Attachment 1, page 6), and argue that

Section 437g(a) (12) should be interpreted as not placing
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restrictions on the press in order to avoid violations of the
Pirst Amendment's guarantee of freedom of the press. Counsel
cite several decisions of the Supreme Court which have "made it
unmistakably clear . . . that protection of accurate repo:ttng'of
governmental affairs is a minimum command of the Pirst
Amendment.” (Attachment 1, page 7). 1In particular counsel cite
Landmark Communications v. Virginia, 435 U.S. 829 (1978), and
Smith v. Daily Mail Publishing Co., 443 U.S. 97 (1979), in which
state statutes barring, respectively, the divulgence of state
judicial review commission proceedings and the publication of the
names of juvenile offenders were found inapplicable to the press
pursuant to the First Amendment.

Counsel also argues that there is nothing in the legislative
history of Section 437g(a) (12) to indicate that Congress intended
this provision to be applicable to the press. In addition, it is
argued that the language of the provision prohibiting information
to "be made public®™ can only be constitutional if deemed to cover
the act of disclosing information to the press, not the
subsequent publication of that information by the press. "(T)he
press does not violate the statute by performing its
constitutional role of passing information on to its readers,
becausé the information was already 'made public' when it was
given to the press."™ (Attachment 1, page 1ll1l). Counsel cite U.S.

v. New York Times Co., 328 F. Supp. 324 (S.D.N.Y.), remanded, 444

F.2d 544 (24 Cir.), reversed, 403 U.S. 713 (1971), in support of

this argument. They note that the literal language of the
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statute involved in New York Times, 18 U.8.C. § 793(e), was b

enough to cover the press by making it a crime for anyone in

unauthorized possession of national defense information to
"communicate® that information to another person lacking
authority to receive it; however, the court concluded that the
statute should not be construed to cover publication by
newspapers. Counsel contrast the language of 18 U.S8.C. § 793(e)
which barred communications with that of 2 U.8.C. § 437g(a) (12)
which prohibits the making public of information, and again
asgert that "information is 'made public' in a real sense when it
is given to a newspaper, whose very function is to communicate news
and information to the public.®™ (Attachment 1, pages 12-13).

This Office finds the above constitutional argument
persuasive. Furthermore, the Commission had voted to authorize
suit against NCPAC as early as November 29, 1983. Therefore, as
of that date the Commission considered its investigation and the
conciliation process with regard to NCPAC to be ended. The
Commission's determination to file suit did not alter the fact
that MUR 1424 was closed on November 29 as to the involvement of
NCPAC. Therefore, the provisions of 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12) were
no longer applicable as of that date, even though the Commission
did not in fact file a complaint against NCPAC until February 6,
1984.

This Office recommends that the Commission find no reason to

believe that the Washington Post Company has violated 2 U.S.C.

§437g(a) (12).
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RE
B. BEmplovees of the Commission

The complainant notes that the article published in The : C
Mashington Post on January 20, 1984, concerning the conciliation
agreement with the Caputo committee stated that the agreement th
not been made public. The complainant then asserts that "(i)t ,
appears that a copy of the conciliation agreement was provided to
The Washington Post by a member or an employee of the Federal
Blection Commission,” and argues that, because the Commission
filed an action against the complainant "on or after January 25,
1984, as the result of the refusal of NCPAC to enter into a
conciliation agreement, the alleged disclosure by a member or
employee of the Commission was for the purpose of causing harm
and embarrassment to National Conservative Political Action
Committee and for the purpose of enhancing the publicity that
would follow the filing of the complaint in Federal court.”
(Complaint, page 3).

The complaint provides no evidence whatsoever of the
involvement of anyone connected with the Commission in the making
public of the agreement at issue. The Post article discussing
the agreement contains no indication of any Commission
involvement, and the complaint simply quotes the reporter as
saying that "it came under my door." Nor has the complainant
provided any evidence of a connection between publication of the
article and the filing of the Commission's complaint on
February 6, 1984. Again, however, the fact that the agreement

had not been made public at the time of the publication of the
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newspaper article does not mean that it could not hnvo’f;_ ‘
public as of December 2, 1983, the date the Commission npprev{‘ ,°'
the agreement and three days after it had voted to file suit
against NCPAC, thereby closing the file in MUR 1424 with regard
to the latter respondent. » ‘ |

The Office of General Counsel recommends that the Commission
find no reason to believe that unknown members and/or employees
of the Commission have violated 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12).

C. Referral to DOJ

As noted above, the complainant asks that the Commission
disqualify itself from investigating the allegations contained in
the complaint and refer the matter to the Department of Justice.
In light of the statutory arguments presented above, there is no
basis for a referral to the Department as there exists no
indication of wrongdoing on the part of Commission employees.
Certainly there is no evidence of the kind of knowing and willful
violations which would be referable pursuant to 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (5) (C).

This Office recommends that the Commission decline to refer
this matter to the Department of Justice.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Find no reason to believe that The Washington Post Company
has violated 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12).

2. Find no reason to believe that unknown members and/or
members of the Federal Election Commission have violated
2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (12).

3. Decline to refer this matter to the Department of Justice.
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4. Close the file in this matter.
S. Approve the attached letters.

Attachments
1. Response from The Washington Post Company

2. Letters (2)
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The Nationai €onservative Politieal Action Conpittee
('NCPAC') haa tiled quonplatne agﬂln&t @;q Hgah&qgton Post
Company (the "Post?) .alleging that the .Post .violated fqaetal S

|| election law by publishing.an article .cangepning.a.cemciliation
Fwagreement between the Federal Election . Commission.apd the Caputo
:50‘ Senate Committee. The gomplaint against the gqsgﬁdhould be

dismissed for two reasons: .

First, there is no. legal ptohibitiqa on..the : Q\iblic
{ disclosure of conciliation.qg;eengpt,-amejthsaecptxg:X, the
applicable statute and regulations expressly require tﬁ@t

conciliation agreements must be made public. 2 U.S.C.
| . ‘ i

| wilLiams & COnNOLLY 3 Al . T s e b
il BunDWRe o 7= g : ey £y " A
wAlRINGTON. B C S80S0
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2810609
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' Law orrices
ILLIAMS & CONNOLLY
L BVILDING
WASHNINGTON. D C 20008

requizensnt of 2 RTMEATRANA» UPon walch KA

complaint, simply does not apply to conciliation agre afints.

; - WO TAL Pl g '
s.cond. even 1?%@FW&@MWM ‘cgvered by
§ 437g(a)(12), ~the Post would l}.vo to be dismissed as a; party

9""\.){
#y?p%n!d%pg. Ptoperly interpntul. that prcvhion does . apply
to the pubncaéion by the press m\%r:ma%;clﬂ ?‘al; Iction of

the Commission; Indéed;"{f" tﬁf&itﬂ;&tﬂ ,ﬁﬂgﬁ%u

YiRd i e}y

prohibit the pﬁess from pubnshtnq Nsujchan_agticlc. it \iéonld
violate the ni-", Amendment...

_For both of these reasons, discussed more funy below, 1
"irm Shoaid be. dismissed for ﬂailure to-|
allege a violation of any ‘law by the Post.-l'/ | :

the compr.laint against thie

oLEalE . W e, B A_‘!.G}.’_".E}‘.;?. |
1. THE LAW DOES NOT pnouxarr, BUT nnoumns, 4
" PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OPF CONCYLATION SAGREBMENTS - ]

In alleging thatithe disclosure of ‘the ‘Conctliation
‘agreement between the PFEC &nd 'the 3€a"p|)9t6"<"t0‘f-1-8eii’a‘t*é"5'é&n;§ittee.
‘and“the Post's publication of an artic¢le “concerning “that agree-
ment, violated 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12), NCPAC ‘completely overlooks
the provision of § 4379 expressly requiring '*tﬁé”"'éduiﬁi:'s"‘s‘ion to
disclose all conciliation agreements 'to the public. Subsection

(a)(4)(B)(ii) of § 437g provides that “the Commission shall make

1/ The first of the two grounds stated--that pub].ic disclosute
of conciliation agreements is not prohibitéd, but rather
required by law--would require dismissal of the complaint
against the unknown members and/or employees of the Federal
Election Commission as well.

SO =
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" aw orrices
WiLLIAMS & CONNOLLY
Ll OULDINS
WASHINGTON. D C. 20000

ARgA CODE 202
3319000
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i

NJ; DA RE: oxv(J?GD'U¢QH.DHP&$99IJPW: gnzansnti'
.>The, Soamission's; ragulasions, Inpisnent, the stagitory

-~z odi| 5e9PiFement; that conciiiation Agresments:be pade a part |of the

EDAWJF”.'@@ + Tbe. reguiations. provide. that *(Jid&;eo?sﬁ iliation
 agpespent 4s: finalized, the: Coe publ
~CORE liation . agraemers O K4 DD« l(zlr gv!waw S !I(n ”,‘b;)

(Qmﬂliﬁ suppneed«h I o aobienilizan’ 5 Jon ai zaeo ?I
AL+ . - .. The requirement that. coqq,i,.l.ati@n agreepents be aisclosed ‘

. {} foxrthwith is in accord with the. legislative history:of. the

. Federal Election Campaign Act. That history ..dgmmt&cnp Con-

4| gress' intent. that.any canciliation agreement “be made. a;»;railable

to the public immedietely.® - House Conf. Rept. No.: 941057, 94th
COng.. 2d Sess. at 50 (1976), l19761 U.8.: Code Cong. & Ad. News

946, 965 (enphasis supplied).3{: hs‘one cou:t has pointed out,
*[t)he legislative hietory o&kthe [conftdentiality] provision
clearly establishes that it was not neant to‘conceal the results
or the contents of an investigation. but rather that it was meant
to avoid adverse speculative publicity during the pendency of an

investigation. FEC v. Illinois Medical Political Action Commi t-

tee. 503 F. Supp. 45, 46 (N.D. Ill. 1980). Accord, Reagan Bush

Committee v. FEC, 525 F. Supp. 1330, 1339 (D.D. C. 1981). Where,

2/ Although the enforcement provisions of the Act were amepnded
the requirement that conciliation agreements be made public.

a 8l

@

in 1980, the amendments did not change either the requirement. |
that notifications and investigations be kept confidential or |
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financing requitdhbifts® havi® beeh violatald;oesngriis inte doa that

(031 # the Tehulti’ dithe® 1nved'tigat 1on be” nade pubilc. |

aiis 1 3u65 B ﬂbsy'tttﬁ&ﬁ%n%tf&ﬁssmw3v§i5¥t12)3%§§11%amahiyﬁia’éhc ais-
soiellldlieloputlel bF o PhotiFteat 16H or 4rivestight ioh’: * 7 Bed' ﬁiiﬂgﬁ Bush

o0z |b ol etbe’ v, PEC, upti,” 325 F. Suppi et 1330 {3°43931a)(12) does

Tﬁnﬁtaﬁbrutdwaitelouu:e of an’ sudit’ report, bacadse’ *the audit pro-

cess is not a 'notification or invesfiqhiléh");*-Qﬁit'é;ovioion
[ b - | is clearly inapplicable to ‘the disclosure of conciliation agree-
' ments, which are expressly governed by § 437g(a){#4){B){ii).
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1t tndeed, the regulations implementing § 437g(a)(12) expressly
J‘edntirnfthht’Ehe»nondisélhiure':equiréméht“inbbse&?by'thit
|t provision does not encompass conciliation agreements:

: * Except as -provided in 11 CPR 111.20(b), no
W‘ action by the mission Or by any person, and

no information deriv!d in connection with -
conciliation efforts pursuant to 11 CFR

- 111.18, may be made public by the Commission
except upon a written request by respondent
and approval thereof by the Commission.” 11
C.F.R. § 111.21(b) (emphasis supplied).

As noted above. 11 C.F.R. § 111, 20(b) is the provision that
requires conciliation agreements to be nade public *forthwith."
In sum, the statute, the regulations. and the legisla-
tive history unequivocally demonstrate that conciliation agree-
ments must be made public. The requirement that certain pre-
liminary actions of the Commission be kept confidential does not

LAW OFFICES

wuams o connvory || apPly to such agreements. Not only are conciliation agreements
-Au:.::m 8 € 20000

outside the scope of the nondisclosure regquirement of

AREA COODE BOS
3913080
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§: 437g4a) (12) jrthe: spatute and:thei rejulntions exprasaly require

that such agreements be made public immediately.cnociios
1eds noffouitence hesowing: for purpokes: of:ithis Motdon that all the alle-

.znui 2db gations: of! the Complaint: are: touwy: then o NCPAC has not: gl leged a
parsosl 14| vhodat 16n of ! any’ daw: by, anyone.:s The PEC was:pequited: by lav to
arid to nc mmue the. conciliation digresement described: in: the! Poct

*.babiovd| stticle: of Jamary 20, 1984. - That agreement -had maﬂgnod by
L #3: . ¢: ]| the: Caputo: for Senate Committee on November 1é¢, 1983, mid by

;- f Charles N. Steelw, General Counsel of the PEC, on mcehﬁet 2,
1§ 1983. . See Exhibit A, &t 6. ':It was reguired to be M public

2925

*forthwith,” 1l C.P.R. § 111.20(b) ~-= that isg, '1media§ely.
* ] HBouse: Conf. Rep., supra." There was certainly nothing aui)lawful in
‘H the Post's publishing an article :in late January 1984 ‘aﬁ:out an

official document that was required by law to have .-bnu'nffnade

3 i
public in early December ‘1983."'/: The Complaint should therefore
be dismiseed for failure to allege a violation of any law.

II. SECTION § 437g(a)(12) DOES NOT LIMIT THE RIGHT
OF THE PRESS TO REPORT ON THE COMMISSION'S ACTIONS

Even if conciliation agreements were subject generally

8404047

to the confidentiality requirement of 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12),
which they clearly are not, the Post would have to be ‘dismissed

as a party respondent because § 437g(a)(12) cannot be read to

LAW OFFICES

wiiiaus o conwouy || 3/ Apart from the public disclosure of the conciliation

st SUL.Oe agreement itself, NCPAC's alleged wrongdoing was disclosed ini- |
RO » o e the Complaint filed by the FEC in federal district court in |
anea coot 208 New York on February 6, 1984. See Exhibit B.
3910000
- 5 —
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LAW OFFICES

ILLIAMS & CONNOLLY

(L VL VN )
WABHINGTON, D C 20008

AREA CODE DOL
39185000
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 limit;thevight of thei priess to. reportion; the) Corpiss 10+§':

actions.,yioteiboanmi 21ldug sbam ad 2in9 doua 2sidd

MBAARE
Ple red? Heods e fuhdamental rule of: statutory construc}ion that
areito be construed: to'avaid conati tut ional: md

statutes are tions.
Asthe Suprsme Courtihas. stated, "constitutional: hhntlrrtfocting

degislation wikl not: be:determined . .- . 4f a: emtmtibn of the

~{| statute is fairly possible by which the question:may be: nvolded.

Rescus Army v. Municipal Court of Los Angeles, 331 U.8i 549, 569

(1947) (foothote omitted). See Ashwander v. Tennessee’ v;allex

|| Authoxi ey 296 u.S.: 288, 348 .(1936). (Brandeis, 3., concurring).

This rule is pertinent here, because §437g(a) fZ) would
undoubtedly violate the Pirst Amendment if it were: inut‘preted to
restrict the press's ability to publish information about the i
actions of the Commission. It has long been recognized that "a
major purpose of [the First] Amendment was to protect the free

discussion of governmental affairs." Mills v. Alabama, 384 U.S.

214, 218 (1966). And "since informed public opinion is the most

potent of all restraints upon misgovernment, the suppression or
abridgment of the publicity afforded by a free press cannot be
Grosijean v.

regarded otherwise than with grave concern®.

American Press Co., 297 U.S. 233, 250 (1936).

NCPAC's effort to impose sanctions on the Post in this
case strikes at the heart of the First Amendment. For assuming
that all of the allegations of the complaint are true, the Post
did nothing more than publish accurate information about the

actions of a governmental body.

-6 -
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gevernmental affairs is a minimum compand of the Pirat A

oo &'3ade %MF‘J M’J 3»”: tﬂﬂ%‘ 858 (1940), ‘gr
‘ I

axanpls, .the Court atated that .® [tlhe freedom of apeechand of

.i.|| he. press guaranteed by the Constitution embraces at. the least
|| £ne. 1iberty. to discuss publicly and truthfully all matters of

|| Public concern without previous restraint or fear of subsequent
. || puntannent.® . 14, at 101-02 (footnote omitted). .Similarly, in

Nl gaczison v.. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 64 (1964). the.Court declared

that ®(t)ruth may not be .the subject of .either civil or criminal

i

sanctions where discussion of public affairs-is concerned.® 1I1d.

at 74. More recently, in Smith v. Daily:.Mail Publishing Co., 443
U.S. 97 (1979), the Court emphasized that ®if a newspaper

lawfully obtains truthful information about a matter of public

significance then state officials may not constitutionally punish

{publication of the information, absent a need to further a state

interest of the highest order." 1Id. at 103..

Under these principles, the Post's accurate reporting of
the Commission's action in this case "may not be the subject of

either civil or criminal sanctions.” The

Garrison, supra.
Supreme Court made that clear in a case virtually idential to
this one, Landmark Communications, Inc. v. Virginia, 435 u.s. 82?

(1978).

In that case a Virginia statute made it a crime to.

divulge information regarding proceedings before a state judicial,

0
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sH HURYL) e Supkdhé COUEE ‘et -ds ide ¥hi¢ Pubtisher's oo“vtetlon.

o
frevi éW ‘Godinii @4 £ "IENGFL féd ‘to H¥Y Colilalnts Wout®y

TSEHUEIEEY Wria ReBooRtudt s o n YU TRher' had BawH' Snvity
Und ‘SEEtEE ESE Ppren€ing “En e 1616 teeurmy ‘tuporting
aumm “Pnqai ty By “the - Codnis icn 2 ;

‘WoT8fng tHEE Eie Firse Adéndnert d1a Wot aXlow “tne’ munn
‘Punts lsient 6f Ehird-persons ‘who "are Strangers ‘to the' %nQuiry.
‘fneluding the nevs media, for &ivulging of publishing’ ?téuthfu
“informat fon r¢§ardiﬁ§5c6nfidéﬁ€iil“pfOGééﬂiﬁgs1o£“thb“6ﬁdic1al
Il Inquiry ‘and ‘Review Commission.®  ‘I4. at ‘837 ‘(fobtnote omitted).
‘tnquiry, ‘to ‘the system of justice, or ‘to the operatfo:r of the
‘Judicial Inquiry and Review Commission may be posed by premature

| not ‘justify prohibiting non-participants in the proceedings from -
publishing truthful information about those proceedings. As
Justice Stewart explained in his concurring opinion, *(t)hough
government may deny access to informatfon and punish its theft,
government may not prohibit or punish the publication -of that
information once it falls into the hands of the press, unless the
need for secrecy is manifestly overwhelming.® 1d4. at 849
(Stewart, J., concurring in the judgment) (footnote omitted).

The Supreme Court's decision in Landmark Communications

is directly applicable to this case.

®

‘While acknowledging that “some risk ‘of itnjury tﬁ.thtaﬁudge under
3 r‘)

disclosure,® id. at 845, the Court concluded that ‘this risk could .

Bere, as in that case, an ..

effort is being made to impose sanctions against the press for |

1




 tave ruth 132 A ptAstitng lofwin EHveNEIGEYEsh B a qov.rmﬂm oo--
1qi misalont! WhE KW, W By Taindia k) Whe PIRE Nbaiiiit lasquarely
31 ndfProtetks TNE preset YIGHE to ! E’oﬁéﬂ on' ‘¥he€ ‘Gonifle W1¥if"s | [procs ed-
sedll ingey o4 \Blnemesips nolleilionon Lsysvod (S1)(s)plede |
up mm-;s:r_jwm. ‘Detly Mair PNTERN $8 To 57 ‘muffra)' Teinforces
o] e pEinciple SpPPiceb e lere.  There u BLate Wratute m&ima
newspapers from publishing the‘name of ‘any M&PW as a
bivow =1 Juvenile offender without the ‘weitten @pprovel of the j“v.nil.

anoi g

(11 5fp court. i By interviewing witneésses, ‘the police; and & prgcecutor.
. }] 20 _hewspapere obtained the nasie of ‘a ‘Juvenile ‘charged with
}shooting another youth. ‘Without :thé approvel’ ofthnf}uvonile
ol oourt, and! therefore fn violation ‘of the ‘statute; the "fngjwspape:s

340404729209

Lot

published the name of the alleged assailant.” Theé he\fspapers were
then prosecuted and convicted for violating the sﬁatutm

w ¥ a3 The Supreme Court held ‘that the publication of | the
youth's name was protected by the Pirst Amendment. The Court
stressed that "state action to punish the publication bf truthful
information seldom can satisfy constitutional standards.® 443
U.S., at 102. Although the Court recognized the state's interest
in protecting the anonymity of juveniles charged with crimes, id.
at 104, it concluded that the state could not, ‘cohsist'ehtly with
the Pirst Amendment, "punish the truthful publication of an
alleged juvenile delinquent's name lawfully obtained by a news-

A, S A paper.® 1Id. at 106 (footnote omitted). See also Oklahoma
1LLIAMS & CONNOLLY l
s suewe Publishing Co. v. District Court, 430 U.S. 308 (1977) (per
WAGMINGTYON. D C 20000
ANgA CODE 802 curiam).
29 ¢-0800
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. the, action 0f .the Conpission in, this Sases:+d i n it

$§437g(a)(12) covered conciliation agreements, the rwle: ;Pnt

2ong0lf| BEATULES. ATe £0 be construed 40 AvVOid cpmmuonu qu¢ tions
BaTT *%@ Feguire that. the provision be construed as: having | ho

s o {-APRYication to . the PressS. - .. ::::il 0wl oy ooscawsn .Te

o linovflE s o IR order to -justify a contxary -construction, there would

-ﬁwhawe to be an "affirmative intention of the Congress. cl&a:ly

. || expressed® to restrict .the press. NLRB v. Catholic Bishop of

-»{{Chicago, 440 U.S. 490, 501 :(1979) (ecitation omitted) (construing =

-,wtuational Labor Relations Act 80 .as to avoid Pirst Ancnduent 7

o Fyoy 73 O

T

AR e 293 =

: :_;g;pes.). And that "clearly expressed,” -'atﬂmun,f;&pt‘nntion'

to restrict the press is clearly lacking. - There is nothing in .
the legislative history of the provision :to indicate that it was -
intended to apply to the press, and the language of. the provision™
is readily susceptible to the interpretation that the
Constitution requires.

Section 437(a)(12) provides that a notification or
investigation “"shall not be made public by the Commission or by

any person without the written consent®™ of the person involved
(emphasis added). To avoid bringing this provision into direct
conflict with the First Amendment, a notification or investiga-

tion must be considered as having been "made public" as soon as T

LAW @FPICES
LAIAMS & CONNOLLY

et sun e |it is disclosed to a representative of the press. Indeed, that. .|
WASKRINGTON. O C 50800 . iy ¥
s e iy e was certainly Congress' intention: if information is not "made
39180800
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1 Gurfein concluded that "newspapers were not intended by Congress

cnployco who discloses a notification or investtafgggQ the

terpreta- | |
-that is,

&ion af the provisian.® parsan may violate the statute
'”l“ Puklic? a notification or investigations-by disc K;“"’
E;n;g:gnttqn to the press, a represantative of thgtpub;ic vwhose
.function . is . to; gomuuuicate Anformation to the bqulag at large.
{,But .the press. does .not violate the .statute by pgutpuing its

constitutional role.of passing information on to its. zeaderl.
_because tho iufo:mation .wag already "made public". vhen 1t vas
.given to the press, : L3 EHeA

~.Judge Gurfein followed this basic approach of consttuing
a;statute restricting speech to exclude the press in the well-

United States v. New York Times Co.,

known Pentagon Papers case.
328 F. Supp. 324 (S.D.N.Y.), remanded, 444 F.2d 544 (24 Cir.), _.
reversed, 403 U.S. 713 (1971). 1In support of its effort to
enjoin the New York Times from publishing the Pentagon Papers,
the government argued that by publishing those documents the
Tines would violate 18 U.S.C. § 793(e), which makes it a crime
for dnybbe having unauthorized possession of information relating
to the national defense to "communicate® that information to
another person without authority to receive it. Although the
iiterai language of the statute gas certainly broad enough to
encompass the press, Judge Gurfein ruled that the statute should
Judge -

not be construed to restrict what newspapers can print.

-1 -
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“H'for ‘excluding the press from the statute at issue fn €h§ Pentagon

g eoHé WEORER end Pdrviev 6t “Sdctiof *98, &2 iyag WL $ipp. at

I 19Go7G o &i“Juddi“éﬁéfoiﬁ’tﬁiiééid’tﬁi”qé@ﬁrﬁiﬁﬂﬁ“ attempt
3¢5 B ng the Préss WEERTA ERE $1edFal ‘anigudge of t%gm

| Pénl br KEE1AS  CORRARLEEE 10R TR’ EHa fadE "of sevéfe PfEdE " nh.mm |
lafpF1dieies Ené Cokmisilon néFé ‘hoara’ ‘Cefudt ‘ﬁéﬁc'- leffort to
‘SppYy '§ 4 37 (a) (12) ‘€67 the pnuJ ‘frdeed, ‘thé ‘case *fbr exclud-
"§rg tHe press from s437glay(12) 1i'eé@h”sif&ﬁgof“fhinttﬁe case

1

Papérs ‘case. The languagé of "the Pentagon Féﬁeéﬁwéffﬁuin. which
prohibited anyone having unauthorized possession of ‘nitional

|| security ‘information to "communicate® that information to another™]
b‘ﬁiﬁhout”iuthdtity“to‘teceive‘iep on its face iﬁp&ii&d”té cover |
all such communications, including those by the préss. By
contrast, as noted above, the statute at issue here by its own _
‘terms would not apply once information is "made public,® and

information is ®made public® in a real sense when it is given to

| 4/ Judge Gurfein proceéded to reject the government's request
for an injunction against the Times, holding that such an
injunction would violate the First Amendment. The Supreme
Court later reached the same conclusion. 403 U.S, 713
(197N). ‘

5/ Like the government in the Pentagon Papers case, NCPAC
apparently seeks to impose a prior restraint on the press.
See Complaint at 4 (requesting that the Commission ® [e]nsure
that no further violations of 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12)
occur®”)., In requesting such relief, NCPAC ignores the
settled doctrine that ®prior restraints on speech and
publication are the most serious and the least tolerable
infringement on First Amendment rights.®™ Nebraska Press
Assn, v. Stuart, 427 U.S. 539, 559 (1976).

-12 -
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ad 2aun 1 Bveinwore importanclys !ﬂii 78 EREUTS Lt 1tgsuw Th |
Pentagon: Rape g3 ccage Was ddntended: ito protiect :mn: iohal -tﬂcutity

N wncitets, aindinatinndimscurity e jestepe the ohe wvw ﬁm vhich |
|| %t ﬂiqlm be poss ihld [to demonstrite that the: "heed: Loxr: docttcy is

panifestly overvhelming."”

in bundnx:k mmications.

and

LI Iew

the

Landmark Communications rm. v.

rving the confidentiality of its invesngat

to conclude, as the Court did in

mmm Camunicttions. that the interest cannot justify

».F%chtar 438 V.8, %t 849 (Stewart J., concurring in thd judg-
One n¢ed not' question the legitimacy of the Comuission's

ions,

wjosl to the one considered by the Suprine Court

restrict.ing the press' rights to report what it learns of the
‘Commission's actions.

In sum, the precedent establishing the Post's right to

nent.)
: in
™
o
[~
~
<
o
<
o
<
o

construed as inapplicable to the ptess.

CONCLUSION

The Complaint in this case flies in the face of the

that conciliation agreements be made public, and the First

=43 =

publish articles such as the one at issue here is overwhelming.

To save §437g(a)(l2) from constitutional infimity, it nust be

Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, which requires

Amendment, which prohibits the imposition of sanctions against. Y

the press for accurately reporting on the affairs of government. |

Z.
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Dated: July 3, 1984

If the Complaint is dismissed in its entirety, NCPAC's demand
that the Commission disqualify itself from conducting an ‘
investigation of the facts will be rendered moot.
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1 hu'cbr «ttl!y that on this 3td day ot July, 1984, I
»i2L AM 3 9 13 ETa 13} aruasd

caused a true coéy of the foredoinq uotton of Respondont The

Washington Post fompany o Pisniss-the Complaint to be mailed,

first cla ass,, Postage Bcepaid, to Jobn T. Dolan, 1001 Prince

110
Strect,, Ah:pnﬂrt.. vtgqhua 22314, Chairman of pcti.t,iomr

e 5y L5l

Na_t:lonal conurvattvc Po itical Action Committee.
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'Kevin T. Baine
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In the Matter of the
pgel (vliul Yo ysb i e S T o e A degd NIrdaosD ”(* X
baputo Icr Senate Comnittee o ol M ) FUR 1420 f
?e AP SRl e af 4o nofdoM palupsd I e de Yagah ol b s S S R “

; ; : . e ae it S rodnnidleeW §
Bbeliem ad o2 Fnlsligmos aoﬁcimh'ﬂoﬂ’"*hdﬂﬁm =93 Boetans 1 :
a: “This Ftter wEs initisted *éﬂroia%h a‘ss cmd svarn

i .

i notarizéé’ damﬁ)&‘nt £31eé by Do 5 ‘Birnello, dhairmln of

“0-01- v w3 ~\ 34 'I-- y‘”‘-v

T‘ttee. “An investiq;tion has™~

L v -
the New 3ork “Tlxe Pesocratic €

been conou“taﬁ ;nd regngn to believe has been found that thc

'v

Caou c for Senzte Committee ("Respondent™) violated 2 U.S. c. §

. 434 of the Fecerzl) Tlection and Campaign Act of 157), as-amended _
(the "Act") by fziling to report in-kind contributions to the
Cazutec for Senzte Cormnitiee and 2 U.S.C. § £41z(f) of the 8ct by
sccepting contributions ir exce=ss of $5,000 from the National .

Conservative Folitical ﬁction Cecmmittee. =

NOW THEREFORE, the Commission anc Responcent, having

culy entered into conciliztion pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 4£37¢g(a)

§4040479 936

(4) () (1), dc hereby agree 2s follovs:

1. The Commission has jurisdiction over the

Respondent zné the subjec: mztter of this proceeding.

e e Lo 3 - e e - —— —— oy (=
- - — . > bam -

J1. Respondent ﬁzs had & rezsonzdlé opportunity to

cemonsirete thet no action should be tzXen in this mztter.
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gmadiaycd Yotenal Famrapa aplisgmsd axulihoages Tasbasgabat

Q B o S A R Fanaio o > o 8 A o .
A Treds st Fe SHo 2 'BaGHAT IR LT L .‘!

{a¢

25w wi 9f v Regpondent Taputo ‘:t&csmﬁ Comiitves 3'v an

auﬁﬂbz&iﬁd ‘Commiteee /st 200 T2 a0iTio duol wall a2 Yo agamzisds
“:3_;3:;, - ot “C% E:x T 8 ol gl 1% o2
.- - | ac % " e Y -rl-“—-o-ﬁ-ﬁ -n el G —-.’-—Q 5 v.r T S .: - . e -:n LAk 1Y
Tucds 6k tiﬁq calcnd myoars 1982 ‘and '1982, ‘thn

SR
National Conservative Political Action Comnitteé -reported: = :

expenditures of $73,775 for an independent expenditure campaign
‘E:"—“in opposition to the election of incumbent Senator Patrick D.: --

Moynihan.

Q
P s

3. 1In 1982 ﬁesponaent employed Arthuy:3:-:=C
Finkelstein paying him $28,000 for surveys and strategic . . -
pélitical advice connected with an unsuccessful Campaig¢n for:the

Republican nomination for Senator from New York. y {1

34040 4 7~ 93

4. During the same tine period.thntwiéspondent
employed Mr. Finkelétein for services described in piragraph No.
3, the National tonsérvative Political Action‘CGmmittCluémplbyed
Mr. Finkelstein paying him $20,000 for surveys and strategic :
politicel_advice connected with its campaign_against Senator. . .

Moynihan.

&/
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Cfasnss Tps -3cl Ssr,ﬁpbiﬂshu Partin: was ﬁw»r"; m : °ﬂt '

office of the National Conservative Politica) m:sm;-

independent expenditure campaign against Senator Hoynihiu;;

3 M ol Tty el M L ety e e M e e o e T o L R Al
WD IES D B8 LS gl oy B o (N a3 88 TIHTL :{ :3;"(,,‘ .vz .

6. Mr. Martin attended some of the staff

meetinge afthe Caputo -for Senate Gowitites wvhike he wvas

chairman of the New York office ot the National. Msggggtgmm
Folitical Action Committee 4 indopendent expenditurc campaign

v e e l”.\‘ﬁ-“-—“‘.‘"’m"" w*~ £ 2. ‘— L e b R o A TSI n.mw L P NN

aqu«nst Senstor. Moynihm emunicamd with Pinkelstein l.bout

the progress of this cmpaiqn.. lasbiila sy birainesnan Tak SAEE

e

R —: WEEREFORE, -Respondent -agrees:— » v+ —r—om arpe <0 S i

V. The National Conservative 'P'olitical Action
Committee's independent eipenditure campajign against Senator
Moyrihan was compromised by its employment and compensation-of
Fr. Finkelstein after Respondent: had employed Mr. Finkelstein.
and vhile Nr. Finkelstein was still employed by Respondent. .

Vi. The National Conservative Political Action

-Committee's independent expenditure campaign against Senator

Moynihan was further compromised by Mr. Nartin's attendance at

Respondent's meetings.
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® Consérvative Political Actiocn Conmitiee:could have: Yearned.

“{mportant “information-about the Caputeé tampaign Rnd are

advocacy communications in oppesition to Senator Moynihan vere |
madid "By PHE NaA€16ARIZCoAstEvatave POl tical hction Comnittes
vhile Re7 titier i in 4 poaistons toivbtain: the vievs: of Mruqs
Finkel sWadn’ ind M. e td] Vho' varerat: the Eime dnvolvad dmiso

i gk Fge 8 Tl Tl S
Respondent campaiqn:' 22 ; R X E‘
f2dl i -"'wsl-~\r-— _,—‘ - ey L L
x‘: r-~.~w.'a { e .‘,.,‘.d‘. N b o Cra s i e "‘\ '-O e > . - b
R '3‘--". WLl o 3. osT,. b . nareedsant - “y ' 282
P

il 3 b AL Th!‘expreSS ldVocacy erpeﬁd&turca made by ‘the -

Ni%?ﬁhff“CdﬁsussfiVeﬂfbxftiodI*%bt&éthGﬁmitzelcin:oppdsitieu

considered to be in-kind céntributionsﬁﬁide*ih'i&var”cirthéﬁff
kespondent. 4 : ‘ =1
IX. ' Respondent has been found to have violated 2 -
U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report the acceptance of $73,775 in
in-kind contributions.
g P Réspbndent was permitted to accept $5,000 in
contributions from tbe National Conservative Political Action

- . ..

Committee pursuant to 2 U.S.C._§ _441a¢2)(A).

X1. Respondent has been found to have violated 2

U.S.C. § 441a(f) by accepting $68,775 in excessive contributions

from the National Conservative Political Action Committee.
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complnnt undcr 2 U $.C. § 437¢g(2) (1) _,qogc‘ermvng t)}g.patters at
issue :herein or on its own motion, may review compliance with
this agreement.--1f-the Commission beljeves that this agreement )
or any reguirement thereof -has been viplated, it may institute a
civil action: for relief in the United States District Court for

the District of Columbia, TATIC SO

X1V. This agreement shall become effective as of the
date that all pnri::‘es hereto have executed same and the

Commission has approved the entire agreement.
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XVi1. Respondent shall have no more than thirty (30)
days from the date this agreement becomes effective to comply
with and implement the requirement.s contained in this agreement
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1, In this action, plaintift redetal Election Commission

G £031 sd? 1o fnsmsaioias [

nt ot § 7 s

”f\ ,’_,« ,ﬂ,,j*__,

(hereinafter the 'Commission ) petitions the coutt to find that

defendant National Consetvative Political Action Committee

.o_.,',:

Lid

n ]‘“_..;
Y| i

(heteinaftet 'NCPAC') violated 2 U S C s Qila(a)(Z)(A) of the

i T

- .‘JAJ-JL

Fedexal Election Campaign Act of 1971 as amended (heteinaftet ]
st camathihg =1
the 'Act' or 'FECA') by making $68 755 in excesSive conttibutions

to the Caputo for Senate Committee (heteinaitet the 'Caputo o

340404'7;194:;3

Committee ) and Violated 2 U.S. C s 434(b)(4)(n)(i) of the Act by

failing to report to the Commission a totaf of $73 7SS in | :

contributions to the Commisslon. ';“ i _M‘u ; A ifqu?.?-

‘ JURISDIC‘I‘ION AND vsnus s .'

2; Jurisdiction of this court is invoked pursuant tohq,-

28 U.S.C.’§ I§IS as ‘an ‘action commenced by an’ agency of'the‘“ s
United States authoxized to sue by an act of Congress.k This ;

«-action seeks declaratoty and other approptiate telief putsuant to

the express autho:ity granted the Comnission in 2 U s C

§§ 4378(a)(6) and 437g(a) (6). @ ;
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I Ot a3
Southe:n bisttict of New Yotkg puuuan%’t@% Ui‘l?c"l Qgﬁgéiﬂgg

Ww. yJaa1
as defendant can be found, resides or tumbﬂiﬁemllﬂu“’ﬂ_

: { .
judicial distriot," ( \IYi2atsfq

4. -t swdnt sto v 0.8 G. § 437g(a) (10), the’/FECA elso
O
ptovides that any action brought ikIEbe mmwwamms%ﬂ

I IATTIMMOD MOITOA .
advanced on the docket of the court a ut maﬁmﬁ W.gQzL .
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5. © Plaintiff Commission is the independent agency of the

4'4

United Statcs—gove:nment vested with exclusi*vedurisdiction for --.-;-.'.-,_}ij

TR - e B
o5 T mLdms b el L“.: i1l i

civil enforcement of the FBCA pu:suent to 2 U S c

<..4 oy

,2.

5S 437c(b)(1),‘4376(e)(6) and 437d(e). _,.' o

6; : Defendant NCRBC 1s a politicel committee tegisteted as

a not-for—ptofit cotpotation in the District of Columbin and

lists its eddress as 1500 Wilson Boulevatd Suite 513, Atlington,
Vitginie zzzos._' ;

STATUTBS AND REGULATIONS

sy
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X S 9; 2 0 S C s 431(4) defines a politicel committee as any

-

group of petsons that receives contributions or makes |
expenditures (as defined by 2 U. s C. s 431(8) andm(9))
aggregating in excess of $1 000 during a calendat year. '
L) | 2 v. s C s 431(17) defineg independent expenditute as
an expenditute expressly advocating "the election or defeat of a

candidate that is made without the cooperation or consultation of

o g ‘. :

any candidate (or candidate's committee or agent).
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provides that coo EPezation and conanltation _Jheans an «‘55999?RR9§

tatsfgmos ad’ Y{s)pTED L A0 ST b
or di:ection by a candidate or candidate '8 committee or, ;29908 £9

5 o3 Insdastsh ad3r ¢l batirogex 2avdll i

e 15 THC making o expenéitpre for & communication prior to ey,
distribution ‘of the communication. ru:ther, the tf301itig3¢w
: aten9l 293522 Harinl S38L 3 r1ed 2snad |
provides that. coopetation and consultation will be pre;umed h Q i
* BalA-mk yils EIE ;p@: oW 10 ub( 3T s et
the expenditure is (A) based n intormat on :ovided o tb ;
——&-W-E-W?w = -t mapmpeti s sy Bterpdng g ad o 3.,.* § .“gm,,.
expending person by the candidate (or candidate's committee O L
FRES TN S H000 U IPRERY S TIPSR I A S W 3 ST ) wdupl@-fHe R f-tvp.r 0y

. agent) Qith a view toward heving the expenditute made, o1 (B) tbe
expenditute is made by or th:ough a person who is authotized to,
9 expend the candidate_committee s. funds -or who has received any v-vavu

_ form of compensation or :eimbutsement from the candidate (ot

candidate's committee or agent). 1 LTl : TR
illz. 11 C.F.R. § 109. 1(c) of the Commxssxon s tegulations‘c
p:ovides that if an expenditure does not quelify as an ot
independent expenditute under 11 C.F.R, § 109 1(b), it shall be;
considered to be an in-kind cont:ibution to the_candidate_end‘qn“

expenditure by the candidate, unless exempt under another

3404'04'729

p:ovicion of law, - : e

13, 2.:0.8.€C, § 441a(a)(?)(h) provides that‘no
multicandidate political committee (as defined by 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(a)(4)) shali make contributions in excess of $5,000 to any

~©one candidate in any one election for federal office.

o e ——
fen e e Cm—— g = - @ S b

4. 2 U.S.C, s 434 (b) (4) (B) (i) provides that political
committees shall report to the Commission all contributions made

“to other political committees.
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PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE COMMISSION -

anoiteluestae goteatmmed odt 2o (H)(d)}E.80L 3 .A,3.0
200119382 'of Januvacy 26, 1982. a oomplaint vas filed with tho

{18 ifl""' GTageiviel il e x’@ﬂt’lf)"q

‘.

CoRmIBE oA pitBvant to PR NN s 437g(a)(1). %me complaint 2
9i6b notioeiib 10
ﬁllbyed that’ ce:tain expenditu:es tepozted by the defendant to
arytibaogxe as paidsm qo2189q 8

. the’ commission as 1ndependent expenditu:es ‘urging the defeat of
aoidestaummon add Yot aoizuditielib
Senato:.beniel P. Moynihan in the 1982 United States Senate
b = 1l mabivolq
_wexe actually in—kind wiea . L
2 £ C\--;nf\' :
ees_-w 'rhe Caput& Comittee-io }e.w--;'

giédeion tor ‘the state of New 'Yor

-%”5“*“eontzibutions'to €he CaputorComnéé

. AT "
poiitieal committee ‘that’ xegiste e with the Comnission pu:suant.

?"PQ-"' %

" to 2 0. s C. § 433 and was authorized to support the candidacy of

Mi. Btuce Caputo for ‘the 1982 United States Senate election in \

0 o
b "the state SF;EZw*§6zE;p3£§LIBt‘t3 5“6’526 s‘i?i{?)[ "fwﬁk“*i’ ﬂ:f"g
S ‘16. ©On August 21, 1982, pursuant to 2 u. s c. ' 'A'fiixhi o’ ]
s [ 437g(a)(4)(A)(i), the Commission found reason to believe that j
:; defendant violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (2) (A) by making exoessive J
o in-kind contributions to the Caputo Committee and violated ¥ 3 ‘mw
j N2 s c s 434(b)(4)(a)(i) by failing to repo:t to the Commission
[l those contxibutions. Pursuvant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2) the |
;: Commission then authorized an investigation of the oomplaintt

17. Ftom Februvary 23, 1983, until August 10, 1983, pursuant
to CommiSSJon regulation 11 C.F.R. § 1l1l. lB(d), the Commission
attempted without success to enter into a conczliation agreementw
with defendant prior to finding probable cause to believe 7
violafions“pad SEén COMMIEERo -~ Framsr R m Rt O T R e S

18. On September 29, 1983, pursvant to 2 U.S.C.
,-s 4379(a)(4)(A)(i), the Commission found ptobable cause to:

believe that defendant v1olated 2 U.S.C. §S§ 441a(a)(2)(A) and

434 (b) (4) (H) (1) .. @
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" Avenue, Mt, xisco, New York 10549. The Caputo Committee s

other services concerning its campaign to elect Mr. Cquto.__,

98
- by infarmali means, Sene femwa&ﬁiiéﬁéﬂua’& fifng of this

-8 @

4 aiX®E munBSeplemﬁéiqw oYe§s’ Sa%v%&%e’%"’% ’“ﬁu,'ga
Commissionodttedptaa i wienddt? isaé.ﬂ’z%"e%:’"‘“idiﬁdisiﬁeﬁﬁﬁq
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allegations of parag:apbs 1 thtough 2 Enciusive;\ ngfﬁﬁaﬁ?’:
23, From April of 1981 through August -of 1ssi‘a;£;$$§;¥”°’

expended a total. of $73, 753 to conduct a meaia cempéign utging

the defeat of incumbent United ‘States’ Senator Hoynihanfin the"Ti =

S oh i mE ey
353 10 LT

1982 New York Senate election. .~ "
24. Mr. Atthur J. rinkelstein is a pollster end political
consultant and is the presiéent of Arthur 3 ?1nkelstein &

Associates, a cozporatxon that 1lists’ Its addtess as 117>Smith '

contracted with Mr, Pinkelstein in Matoh of 1981 tor Mr,;t-.L

Finkelstein to provide the Caputo Committee with consulting and

PSSR T XY T
— —— —— P~ ey

Duxxng tbe period April 1981 through August 1982, defendant -

compensated Mr. Finkelstein $20,000 for consulting and other

Services provided in defendant's media campaign urging the defeat

of Senator Moynihan.:




DL e R SR

[ _31- @

29. Trem Neve %S‘ ,Jlﬂ!f q‘%@!il!'ekn;éneicanao 1Mr. Raliin B,

a3k
tin was the chairman of .t Yor
H.:rmu:..fmza a o ? 2 j b’ ,'!QH;,

media baupgign u:ging‘the deggag .Qf. Sengsog sgynthanmrﬂ:ﬁm

™ o i Gt
polesu e

vas recruited for this WY*?H‘? (% (yr,rs;nlgolqtqn whiYe rasuz1uq

Mr. Ma:tin vas se:v:lngj as azqugnt”a rfoagtbggmutmﬂ:omm“. ,

3 aﬁo; ﬁ%ﬂil ad? Jo913C

, aE:éQa.nt and the Caput.q Comittqe at bhe , ’: tim mm(tnﬁ I8

-—-&- > . om. ¢« awn o “W-——ﬁ - .s-_na-_vm - v‘a-- ~—- 3o . U = o o "heh G e

- was attending meetings of ‘the Ceputo Committee camp&igu stq;ft at;
the same time he se:ved'as chaizman of the New York office of

- defendant's campaign urging the defeat of Senator Moynihapg: =~ ..
- oefendant's $73, 755 in expenditutes were cooxdinateﬂ with: the: [’

Caputo Comittee. _ C

2

2.9
3

31. " As the $73 755 m expenditu:es made by defendant:in-
its campaign against Senator Moynihan were coordinated with:the::
Caputo'Conmittee, 'they were not independent .expenditures; ok 8 3RL
thereque, they wére in-kind contributions by NCPAC to the .0apnto

Committee. 2 U.S.C. § 431(17) and 11 C.F. R. § 109.1. A

3404047

multicandidate committee such as NCPAC is limited to making no -

more than $5,000 in contributions to a candidate committee du:ing
a primary election, and NCPAC's contributions to the Caputo : .- ;
Committee exceeded this limit by $68,755 in violation of .2 U.$.C.:

e mmmas slium's s & ol oot =" .« = - ey 1 e Selici R

s a4la(a) () @A)
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25. As conaultant to d@ff“?<?§1‘“" rinkelatein developod
and analysed polling dete concerning the 1983 Doiped Stater,
Senate election for the stateigtrnew Xgr},MQevelo ed -trgtggg,o .‘

- .avtaulant {ouoz qEIEE .—n 583

*HATHISE 190900 200, Panc e tar Apdets, Sha sp g eggne

of defendant's %’&g%ssb‘a?%?ns, sms%;mms the 957988860,

AenatorTyaytithans v ,8931timmod oduqs:‘)

26. The Caputo Congittg'¥;hgi§teged with the Commission

ceee o o e L e .n..'h.s—-c-v.-
] L

omTYTeEre AL

A Matcb 10.%1981 puru;ant to 2 D B C s 433, and condnoteg ,‘!, RirE i
R campaign utging the Republican nomination of candidate aruc; G
‘ Caputo for'United States Senate for the state oi New Yotk until

_ Ma:ch_pi_laaz_yhen §£, Caputo withdrgv gtom the election,*,h_ ol i

.. imrtre, = ]

49

The Caputo Committee lists its 2ddress as P.O. Box 812, ¥9nke§§¢

9

. New York 10702.

2

27. Duting tbe pexiod Match 1981 througb March 1982, the e
Caputo Committee compensated Mr, ?inke;stein $28 000 for.

“'.=-'}‘:'

consulting and other services he provided to the Caputo, Committee
in the campaign to elect Mr, Caputo. _

28. As consultant to the Caputo Committee, Mr. Pinkelstein

8 404047

deve10ped,and analyzed pol]_.ing data conce:_ning.the,lQB__z United 5%
States Senate ielection for the state of_Nev{_Yo:;k‘, deve_]_.oped ‘.

strategy on election issues and use of media, and assisted in the
preparation of radio and television commercials urging_the degeat

of Senator Moynihan and the election of Mt. Caputo.
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“ection Camm ssion p:ays that |

. this éOutt:?;gmzw_,d Yo 5,7”?;; ;~::u;:¢mditaﬂ sdl paipiv aplsgmsy ;
y R TR It the National Conservative Politicai Action e ,
© COmmitteéfiiblitéd”i“D“s’C 3 441&(&)(2)(R) by conir{gséiﬁa-in £ f-ji
480 excess of $s, 000" to" the Caputo for Senateﬁtomnittee; b AR LA '; .
:: (2) £find the National Conservative Pblitical“xétfon;"jj -
5N Committee violated 2 0.S.C. S 434(b)(4)(8)(1) by failing to
S report $73,755 in contributions ta the Caputo ‘for Senate -
9 Gommittees iR | A
< _ ad o Fa SN Y B b Ty
o (3) order the National Conservative Political Action
T Commxttee to pay to the United States Téeasuty a civil penalty of
;%“’ $5,000 or an amount equal to any conttibution or expenaxtute

involved in the violations committed;
~ (4) order the Rational Conservative Political Action
Committee to amend its reports to show cont:ibutioné'ot'573;7557"

to_tbe“Caputpwfo:,§en§§e_¢6@pittee: At




-ngA onjoin thn 8at£onl1 Conservative Politicll lction

Cemittu from viohting any pzovision of the Federal llntion
Catupalgn Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.5.C. § 431 et seg.; and

“ (6) order such other and further relief as the court deens

appropriate. :
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Assistant General Counsel
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R. LEE ANDERSEN
Attorney

. FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20463
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

John T. Dolan, Chairman

National Conservative Political -
Action Committee

1001 Prince Street

Alexandria, Virginia 22314

RE: MUR 1724
Dear Mr. Dolan:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
contained in your complaint dated June 5, 1984, against unknown
members and/or employees of the Federal Election Commission and
The Washington Post Company, and has determined that on the basis
of the information in the complaint, and information provided by
the Respondent, there is no reason to believe that a violation of
the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, has been
committed. Accordingly, the Commission has closed the file in
this matter.

The Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to
seek judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this
action. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (8).

Should additional information come to your attention which
you beljeve establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth at 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(l) and 11 C.P.R. § 11l1.4.
Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

BY: Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report

/2ééﬂgé;n€Al7L,29
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. FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Kevin T. Baine, Esquire
David B. Kendall, Bsquire
Williams and Connelly

Bill Building

839 Seventeenth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006

RE: MUR 1724
The Washington Post Company

Dear Mr. Baine and Mr. Kendall:

On June 13, 1984, the Commission notified your client of a

complaint alleging a violation of the Pederal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on , ¢ 1984, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by you, there is no reason to believe that a violation of
any statute within its jurisdiction has been committed.
Accordingly, the Commission has closed its file in this matter.
This matter will become a part of the public record within 30
days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

BY: Kenneth A. Gross
Associate Gene;al Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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July 3, 1984

© HENSER NY BAR ONLY

Charles N. Steele, Esquire
General Counsel

Federal Election Commission
Washington, D.C. 20463

Re: National Conservative Political Action Committee ;
v. Unknown Members and/or Employees of the Federal -
Election Commission and The Washington Post, MUR No. 1724 -
o

Dear Mr. Steele:

I am enclosing an original and copy of the Motion of Respon-

dent The Washington Post Company to Dismiss the Complaint 1n
this matter. STy

On behalf of my client, The Washington Post Company, I
request that the Complaint, the enclosed Motion and all other
material pertaining to this matter be made public.

Very truly yours,
beu ]
Kevin T. Baine

KTB/crt

Enclosures

cc: John T. Dolan
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LAW OFPICES
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY
HILL BUILDING
WASHINGTON. O.C. 50008

AREA CODE 303
331-8000

. pEFORE MHE
PEDERAL ELECTION oomlras:ou

NATIONAL CONSERVATIVE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE,
Petitioner,
v. MUR NO. 1724
UNKNOWN MEMBERS AND/OR EMPLOYEES
OF THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
and THE WASHINGTON POSBT,

Respondents.
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MOTION OF RESPONDENT THE WASHINGTON POST
COMPANY TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT

INTRODUCTION

The National Conservative Political Action Committee

("NCPAC") has filed a complaint against The Washington Post

E%Company (the "Post®") alleging that the Post violated federal
fzelection law by publishing an article concerning a conciliation
%;agreement between the Federal Election Commission and the Caputo
?Efor Senate Committee. The complaint against the Post should be
iédismissed for two reasons:

;g First, there is no legal prohibition on the public
;idisclosute of conciliation agreements. To the contrary, the
?%applicable statute and regulations expressly require that

. conciliation agreements must be made public. 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a)(4)(B)(ii); 11 C.F.R. § 111.20(b). The nondisclosure
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requirement of 2 U.8.C, § lJTq(a)(lZ). upon whlch ucrnc btlil 1tl
conplaint, simply does not apply to concnht:lon l'l".lltl.
Second, even if conciliation agreements were covered by
§ 437g(a)(12), the Post would have to be dismissed as a party
respondent. Properly interpreted, that provision does not apply
to the publication by the press of an article about an action of
the Commission. Indeed, if the statute were construed to
prohibit the press from publishing such an article, it would
violate the FPirst Amendment.
For both of these reasons, discussed more fully below,

the complaint against the Post should be dismissed for failure to

i allege a violation of any law by the Post:l/

ARGUMENT

| 1. THE LAW DOES NOT PROHIBIT, BUT REQUIRES,

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF CONCILATION AGREEMENTS

In alleging that the disclosure of the conciliation

' agreement between the FEC and the Caputo for Senate Committee,

‘and the Post's publication of an article concerning that agree-

- ment, violated 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12), NCPAC completely overlooks

. the provision of § 4379 expressly requiring the Commission to

disclose all conciliation agreements to the public. Subsection

3(a)(4)(B)(ii) of § 437g provides that "the Commission shall make

1/ The first of the two grounds stated--that public disclosure
of conciliation agreements is not prohibited, but rather
required by law--would require dismissal of the complaint
against the unknown members and/or employees of the Federal
Election Commission as well.
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public any conciliation agreement signed by both the Commission

| and the respondent.® (Emphasis supplied.)

The Commission's regulations implement the statutory
requirement that conciliation agreements be made a part of the
public record. The regulations provide that "[i]f a conciliation

agreement is finalized, the Commission shall make public such
conciliation agreement forthwith." 11 C.F.R. § 111.20(b)

(emphasis supplied).

The requirement that concilation agreements be disclosed
forthwith is in accord with the legislative history of the
Federal Election Campaign Act. That history demonstrates Con-
gress' intent that any conciliation agreement "be made available

to the public immediately.®” House Conf. Rept. No. 94-1057, 94th

t: Cong., 2d Sess. at 50 (1976), [1976] U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News
1946, 965 (emphasis supplied).zf As one court has pointed out,
Z%'[t]he legislative history of the [confidentiality] provision
?%clearly establishes that it was not meant to conceal the results
‘Eor the contents of an investigation, but rather that it was meant

f%to avoid adverse speculative publicity during the pendency of an

"investigation.' FEC v. Illinois Medical Political Action Commit-

. tee, 503 F. Supp. 45, 46 (N.D. Ill. 1980). Accord, Reagan Bush

' Committee v. FEC, 525 F. Supp. 1330, 1339 (D.D.C. 1981). Where,

2/ Although the enforcement provisions of the Act were amended
in 1980, the amendments did not change either the requirement
that notifications and investigations be kept confidential or
the requirement that conciliation agreements be made public.
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as here, an investigation results in an admission that campaign
fi.nancing requirdnntn have been violated, Congress intended that

the results of the investigation be made public.

By its own terms § 437g(a)(12) applies only to the dis-

closure of a "notification or investigation.® See Reagan Bush

Committee v. FEC, supra, 525 P. Supp. at 1339 (§ 437g(a)(12) does

not forbid disclosure of an audit report, because "the audit pro-
cess is not a 'notification or investigation'®"). That provision

is clearly inapplicable to the disclosure of conciliation agree-

| ments, which are expressly governed by § 437g(a)(4)(B)(ii).

Indeed, the regulations implementing § 437g(a)(12) expressly

confirm that the nondisclosure requirement imposed by that

fjptovision does not encompass conciliation agreements:

“Except as provided in 11 CFR 111.20(b), no
action by the Commission or by any person, and
no information derived in connection with
conciliation efforts pursuant to 11 CFR
111.18, may be made public by the Commission
except upon a written request by respondent
and approval thereof by the Commission.® 11
C.F.R. § 111.21(b) (emphasis supplied).

,‘As noted above, 11 C.F.R. § 111.20(b) is the provision that

| requires conciliation agreements to be made public "forthwith."®

In sum, the statute, the regulations, and the legisla-
tive history unequivocally demonstrate that conciliation agree-
ments must be made public. The requirement that certain pre-
liminary actions of the Commission be kept confidential does not
apply to such agreements. Not only are conciliation agreements

outside the scope of the nondisclosure requirement of




§ 437g(a)(12); the statute and the regulations expressly require
that sdch agreements be made public immediately.

Assuming for purposes of this Motion that all the alle~
gations of the Complaint are true, then, NCPAC has not alleged a
violation of any law by anyone. The FPEC was required by law to
make public the conciliation agreement described in the Post
/{ article of January 20, 1984. That agreement had been signed by
the Caputo for Senate Committee on November 14, 1983, and by
Charles N. Steele, General Counsel of the FPEC, on December 2,
1983. See Exhibit A, at 6. It was required to be made public

\| “forthwith,® 11 C.F.R. § 111.20(b) -- that is, "immediately.”
»

I; House Conf. Rep., supra. There was certainly nothing unlawful in

959

’
he

‘ the Post's publishing an article in late January 1984 about an

of ficial document that was required by law to have been made

3
. public in early December 1983.—/ The Complaint should therefore

be dismissed for failure to allege a violation of any law.

II. SECTION § 437g(a)(l2) DOES NOT LIMIT THE RIGHT
OF THE PRESS TO REPORT ON THE COMMISSION'S ACTIONS

Even if conciliation agreements were subject generally

3404047

to the confidentiality requirement of 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12),
which they clearly are not, the Post would have to be dismissed

as a party respondent because § 437g(a)(12) cannot be read to
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wiuaus s convory 3/ Apart from the public disclosure of the conciliation

B o agreement itself, NCPAC's alleged wrongdoing was disclosed in
g the Complaint filed by the FEC in federal district court in
Anga CooR 202 New York on February 6, 1984. See Exhibit B.
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limit the right of the press to report on the Commission's
actions.

It is a fundamental rule of statutory construction that
statutes are to be construed to avoid constitutional questions.
As the Supreme Court has stated, "constitutional issues affecting
legislation will not be determined . . . if a construction of the
statute is fairly possible by which the question may be avoided."
Rescue Army v. Municipal Court of Los Angeles, 331 U.S. 549, 569

(1947) (footnote omitted). See Ashwander v. Tennessee Valley

i

i Authority 298 U.S. 288, 348 (1936) (Brandeis, J., concurring).

(o | This rule is pertinent here, because §437g(a)(12) would
a0 ;iundoubtedly violate the First Amendment if it were interpreted to |
o ;Etestrict the press's ability to publish information about the g
3 1factions of the Commission. It has long been <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>